No. 47007-1-II

COURT OF APPEALS DIVISION II OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

STATE OF WASHINGTON, Respondent

٧.

JAYCEE FULLER, Appellant

APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT

OF PIERCE COUNTY

THE HONORABLE BRYAN CHUSHCOFF

THE HONORABLE RONALD CULPEPPER

BRIEF OF APPELLANT

Marie J. Trombley, WSBA 41410 PO Box 829 Graham, WA 253-445-7920

I. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

- A. The Trial Court Erred In Admitting Irrelevant And Misleading Evidence.
- B. The State Violated Mr. Fuller's Right To Keep ConfidentialHis Privileged Work Product.
- C. The Prosecutor Committed Misconduct By Making

 Statements In The Media Regarding The Defendant's Guilt

 In Direct Defiance Of The Trial Court's Order And In

 Violation Of The Rules of Professional Conduct.
- D. The Evidence Was Insufficient To Sustain A Conviction For
 First Degree Felony Murder For Robbery or Attempted
 Robbery.
- E. The Evidence Was Insufficient To Sustain A Conviction For First Degree Premeditated Murder.

Issues Pertaining To Assignment Of Errors

- A. Did the trial court err in admitting evidence of indentations in mulch, which was non-probative and presented as inculpatory?
- B. Did the State violate Mr. Fuller's right to keep private his privileged work product, where the jail officers opened all of his mail and on one occasion kept it for 19 hours?

- C. Did the trial court err when it denied the Cr 8.3(b) motion to dismiss based on the governmental misconduct of reading Mr. Fuller's privileged communications?
- D. Did the prosecutor commit misconduct by posting statements on the Pierce County Prosecutor's Twitter account in violation of a court order and RPC 3.8(f)?
- E. Was the evidence sufficient to sustain a conviction for first degree felony murder for robbery or attempted robbery?
- F. Was the evidence sufficient to sustain a conviction for firstdegree meditated murder?

II. STATEMENT OF FACTS

Procedural History

On October 8, 2009, Pierce County prosecutors charged

Jaycee Fuller by amended information with first-degree felony
murder with a robbery predicate and first-degree premeditated
murder, both with deadly enhancements, in the death of Mohamed
Ahmed. (CP 1-2). Mr. Fuller was convicted on both counts after a
jury trial. In a published opinion, dated August 8, 2013, the Court of
Appeals reversed the conviction.

The Court held the State's use of Mr. Fuller's post arrest partial silence during his custodial interrogation, when he did not

testify and his statements showed no knowledge of the crime or circumstances of the murder required reversal. (CP 4-37;22).

The Court provided a second reason for the reversal: the trial court abused its discretion in failing to analyze admission of evidence under ER 404(b). (CP 29). It reasoned that while the "State's evidence circumstantially linked Fuller to the crime, it failed to present evidence of premeditation or of an actual robbery, even though most of the State's evidence related to felony murder based on robbery or attempted robbery." (CP 33). The Court concluded the admission of the evidence was not harmless. (CP 29).

The Court of Appeals decision became final on January 9, 2013. (CP 38). Mr. Fuller was returned to Pierce County Jail (PCJ) on February 20, 2013 for retrial. (1/23/14 RP 10).

A. Pretrial Rulings

1. Self-Representation

On June 26, 2013, after an extended colloquy, the court granted Mr. Fuller's request to represent himself and appointed Curtis Huff as standby counsel. (6/26/14 RP 16).

2. Legal Mail

On September 4, 2013, Mr. Fuller alerted the court that his mother had been assisting him with case law research and typing

his motions. She sent the legal information to him by USPS mail and marked it "legal mail." (9/4/13 RP 9). He complained to PCJ¹ that officers were opening his marked "Legal Mail". (9/4/13 RP 9). Believing the problem was resolved, however, Mr. Fuller agreed to file a written motion for the court to consider at a later hearing, if necessary. (9/4/13 RP 9-10).

On September 12, 2013, an officer took possession of his mail that contained motions, research and work product for his case. Mr. Fuller told the officer he was pro se, and the contents were from his mother. The officer grabbed the mail from his hand. When Mr. Fuller tried to speak with her to get his legal mail, she ordered him to lockdown and filed an incident report. (CP 98). Mr. Fuller submitted an affidavit signed by 13 inmates who witnessed the event, averring he had not disobeyed any direct order from the officer and that he was not disrespectful toward the officer, but was punished nevertheless. (CP 96-97). His legal materials were not returned to him for 19 hours. (CP 93).

On September 24, 2013, he filed a motion for a sanction against the State because he believed the jail staff was giving the prosecutor's office access to his legal mail. (CP 90-97;10/1/13 RP

¹ Pierce County Jail

14). The court commented that Mr. Fuller's mother "is not an attorney." (10/1/13 RP 15).

Sergeant Miller from PCJ attended the hearing and told the court that officers open inmate mail and search for contraband.

Mail is not copied or sent to the prosecutor unless "we find cause for inappropriate behavior." (10/1/13 RP 16). Mr. Fuller withdrew his motion after the court assured him he would not lose the right to argue it at some point in the future if necessary. (10/1/13 RP 15).

3. Media

Mr. Fuller made motions about the prosecutor's use of the media in a manner that could affect a jury panel or subject him to public condemnation. (2-13-14 RP 52-57; 3-27-14 RP 130-131; 145; 152; CP 150-183). In pretrial hearings, the court directed DPA Penner, to tell Mr. Lindquist to avoid trying the case in the media (2/13/14 RP 61) and to comply with the Rules of Professional Conduct (RPC) with respect to statements he made to the media. (3/27/14 RP 146).

At the May 1, 2014 hearing, the following exchange occurred:

THE COURT: "I do recall at the last hearing I directed Mr. Penner to tell Mr. Lindquist that he had to comply with the Code of Professional Responsibilities. There are limitations

or guidelines I guess, on media. I believe Mr. Penner did that."

MR. PENNER: "I did, actually."

THE COURT: "Mr. Lindquist made some kind of comment about it to me. Did you chide him or just remind him?"

MR. PENNER: "I informed him."

(5/1/14 RP 174).

Later, in the same hearing, in a discussion about prosecutors interacting with the media, Mr. Penner again stated, "If Mr. Lindquist or I or anybody else from my office violates the RPCs, we'll have to deal with their licensing agency, and to the extent that that can be shown to prejudice Mr. Fuller's right to a fair trial, we may have to deal with potential dismissal of the case." (5/1/14 RP 187). The court added, "Well, I directed Lindquist before through Mr. Penner, and I understand he told him, so he has ethical obligations and has to restrict what he says." (5/1/14 RP 188-89).

On November 12, 2015, after trial had been underway for over a week, Mr. Fuller brought a copy of a Tweet that had been sent from the prosecutor's office on November 2². (11/12/14 RP 5; Def. Exh. 321). The November 2nd Tweet read:

https: twitter.com/pcprosecutor

 $^{^2}$ A second tweet issued on November 3 also remains on the twitter website: "Prosecutor Lindquist delivering opening statements in Jaycee Fuller murder retrial. Fuller killed taxi driver in '09."

"Prosecutor Mark Lindquist to deliver opening statement tomorrow in Jaycee Fuller murder trial. Fuller killed taxi driver on Tacoma's Sixth Avenue."

Mr. Lindquist addressed the court saying:

"Your Honor, we're a public agency. We have a public information employee whose job it is to inform the public of the work we're doing for the public, and she did her job. I don't know what else to comment on that. The Court has instructed the jury to avoid not only public media but social media."

(11/12/14 RP 6).

Mr. Lindquist went on:

"The public information officer seems to be doing her job here. I have two answers to that. One is that, in fact, we have charged Mr. Fuller with Murder in the First Degree and the allegation is that he killed a taxi driver on Tacoma's Sixth Avenue, so that's accurate..."

"I misspoke. Okay. So her mistake appears to be that she wrote 'Fuller killed taxi driver on Tacoma's Sixth Avenue' when a more accurate Tweet would have been 'Fuller killed taxi driver at the end of the fare on Tacoma's Sixth Avenue.' That said I'm not sure exactly what the motion is."

(11/12/14 RP 7-8).

Mr. Fuller pointed out the tweet should have used a word like "allegedly" rather than an opinion on guilt, which violated the RPC pertaining to prosecutors. (11/12/14 RP 7,8). The court held the tweets did not seem to violate the RPC, but again reminded Mr. Lindquist to follow rules of professional responsibility guidelines (11/12/14 RP 8).

4. Knapstad Motion And Motion For Discretionary Review.

At the March 27, 2014 hearing, Mr. Fuller presented a Knapstad motion. (3/27/14 RP 88-118). He also argued a CrR 8.3(b) motion to dismiss due to government misconduct, specifically, the issue of his legal mail and the State's comments to the media. (3/27/14 RP 122-129; CP 127-141).

Mr. Fuller contended that as a pro se, he was his own attorney, as well as the defendant: the information he sent to and received from his mother regarding his strategy, research and motions should be regarded as privileged work product. (3/27/14 RP 142). She acted as his legal assistant. (3/27/14 RP 139-140). He likened the State confiscating and reading his legal mail as akin to the deputy reading an attorney's notes at trial in *Granacki*. ³ (3/27/15 RP 140). The court questioned Mr. Fuller but reasoned that because he was not an attorney, his research and motions and strategies would not be considered privileged work product. (3/27/14 RP 141-142).

He showed the court two envelopes, which had been opened by jail staff and, despite the fact that they contained his legal work, someone had written "Not" Legal Mail on them.

8

³ State v. Granacki, 90 Wn.App. 598, 959 P.2d 667 (1998).

(3/27/14 RP 124). He maintained the jail gave copies of his mail to the prosecutor's office. (3/27/14 RP 143).

Mr. Fuller recounted an incident that occurred during his first trial: he had written a letter to his girlfriend with less than complimentary remarks about his defense attorney. Although marked "Return to Sender" the letter was opened when returned to him in the jail. Soon after, his attorney brought a copy of it to him and was angry about the disparaging comments. Mr. Fuller concluded the attorney had received a copy of the letter from PCJ through the prosecution. (3/27/14 RP 124).

Mr. Penner, agreed that if PCJ was copying Mr. Fuller's mail which contained information about strategy, notes, research for the case, and funneling it to the prosecutor's office, it might be government misconduct. (3/27/14 RP 144). He was not aware of mail being provided to his office, but agreed to look into it⁴. (3/27/14 RP 145). The court ruled opening the mail was not misconduct, but also stated, "I know the jail officers follow the policies. I've had some questions about some jail policies involving pro ses myself." (3/27/15 RP 150). The court denied Mr. Fuller's

⁴ Mr. Penner was replaced by Ms. Novavec. (8/29/14 RP 3).

motions to dismiss and/or to sanction the prosecutor's office. (3/27/14 RP 148).

On April 22, 2014, Mr. Fuller filed a motion for discretionary review with the Court of Appeals on the rulings. (CP 184-203). The Court denied the motion and specifically ruled that Fuller did not provide support for his contention that legal mail includes a prose defendant's correspondence with non-attorneys. (CP 209).

5. Motions In Limine And Admissibility of Evidence

Over defense objection, the court ruled the following items were admissible: the newspapers found at the garbage dump; photographs of indentations in beauty bark mulch found some distance from the crime scene; testimony that Mr. Fuller had scratches on his face around the time of the crime; the Pawn-X video; the Masa video; a \$1 bill and King Cab Company business card found in the cab; testimony that Mr. Fuller had worn long hair; and testimony that Mr. Fuller had told others he hated foreigners. (10/28/14 RP 131-169).

B. The Crime and Investigation

According to the taxicab GPS system, at 3:05 a.m. on the morning of March 8, 2009, Muhamed Ahmed picked up a fare in his taxi on Sixth St. near the Masa restaurant in Tacoma. (11/5/14 RP

218;221). About 5:30 a.m. that same morning, Officer Denully of the Tacoma Police Department (TPD) responded to a call for a priority backup at 3635 S. Lawrence Street. (11/3/14 RP 52;70). He observed a cab facing south on the uphill slope of the entrance to a parking lot, the motor and meter still running. (11/13/14 RP 56-57;66). The body of Mr. Ahmed was face down next to the cab, his arm tangled in the seatbelt. (11/6/14 RP 309;311).

Mr. Ahmed had sustained two knife or knife-like sharp force injuries to his neck: one was a superficial injury to the front of the neck, the second was an incised wound that was deeper and damaged critical internal structures. (11/12/14 RP 143). There was a single stab wound to the abdomen on the right side and multiple sharp force injuries to the right hand. (11/12/14 RP 145).

On the cab's rear right floorboard, officers located a \$1 dollar bill and a King Cab business card. (11/3/14 RP 91). Both were negative for latent fingerprints and blood. (11/3/14 RP 104;116). In the center console, officers found a wallet that did not appear to have been rifled through or disturbed. A cell phone, credit cards and personal papers were also found undisturbed in the console. (11/3/14 RP 149; 152).

Mr. Ahmed's interior right jacket pocket held \$160⁵ in folded cash. (11/6/14 RP 368). The cash was sliced and had blood on it. (11/6/14 RP 333-34). His left interior coat pocket contained \$49. (1/6/14 RP 368). A second wallet on the right front visor contained \$5. (11/3/14 RP 175). The lead detective, Gene Miller, testified the evidence did not point to a robbery and the only hint of an attempted robbery was the isolated area where the cab was found. (11/6/14 RP 363).

There were small amounts of castoff blood in the front passenger seat, and the driver's seat area, dashboard and the driver's door had blood deposits, smears, and swipes. (11/3/14 RP 148). The cloth driver's seat had soaked up blood, and some had gone underneath the seat and drained on the vinyl floorboard into the backseat. (11/3/14 RP 155). Interior and exterior areas with suspected blood were swabbed, hair and fibers collected, and fingerprint impressions lifted from all areas. (11/3/14 RP 127;129). (11/4/14 RP 7-8). No fingerprints or DNA matched Mr. Fuller. (11/6/14 RP 361-62). Mr. Fuller was excluded as a contributor to the hair found in the doorframe of the cab. (11/12/14 RP 17). The

⁵ 7- \$20 bills, 1-\$10 bill, 2-\$5 dollar bills. (11/6/14 RP 368).

DNA profile from swabs taken from the left rear door handle did not exclude one third of the U.S. population. (11/10/14 RP 80).

Indentations In Beauty Bark Mulch

Detective Reopelle testified that north and east of the cab was a sloped area covered in beauty bark mulch that ended at a ten-foot retaining wall. No shoe prints led from the crime scene to the beauty bark area. Reopelle testified it looked like someone started at the top of the slope, made deep impressions when they landed at the bottom and then jumped off the 10-foot retaining wall to a lower area with more beauty bark. (11/4/2014 RP 15). He believed the impressions were headed in a northeastern direction away from the area. (Id.). He testified that the easiest way to get to Mr. Fuller's apartment from that parking lot was to head northeast from the area. (11/4/14 RP 53).

He measured one set of the impressions at about 13 inches. He did not try to measure the indentations that were at the top of the slope because the area was so disturbed and useless for measurement. (11/4/2014 RP 16;18;49). Officers later searched Mr. Fuller's home and removed two pairs of boots: both measured thirteen and a half inches (13 ½) in length. (11/4/14 RP 24). Reopelle testified the black boots were very worn. (11/4/14 RP 25).

Reopelle testified the beauty bark did not make a good surface for impressions. Despite the fact that he was not qualified as an expert, he testified there was a "slight" heel impression, and the black boots were "consistent with" the impressions he saw in the beauty bark. (11/4/2014 RP 26;50;55). He further opined that the heel impression showed the individual was running away from the retaining wall. (11/4/14 RP 55).

Detective Miller testified there were no discernable features in the beauty bark. (11/6/14 RP 357). He also stated there was nothing linking the impressions to the crime, aside from the speculation that the impressions showed someone leaving the area. (11/6/14 RP 358).

Forensic specialist, Audrey Askins, videotaped the area. (11/3/14 RP 71). Included in the video were photos of the mulch that was near the parking lot on the north end. She guessed the indentations in the bark were "shoe indentations." (11/3/14 RP 75; 82;87). She did not make a plaster of the indentations because they were so distorted and had no detail. (11/3/14 82-83).

The court denied Mr. Fuller's motion to strike the beauty bark indentation testimony for being speculative and irrelevant, but

noted, "We haven't been given too much about the science of shoe print in bark impressions." (11/6/14 RP 387-88).

Keg Hat

At the north end of the parking lot, officers found a "beanie" cap on the ground. (11/4/14 RP 14). The cap had the "Keg Steakhouse" logo on the front and a white strip around the bottom portion. (11/4/14 RP 19). The recovered hat had two coarse body hairs, five fine body hairs, and five human hair fragments. (11/10/14 RP 20). Of the recovered hairs, only one coarse body hair was suitable for nuclear DNA analysis, however it was never tested. (11/10/14 RP 20;33). One loose strand of hair, 10 ½ to 11 inches in length, was collected from the inside of the hat. (11/6/14 RP 331-32). The hair was suitable for mitochondrial DNA analysis (11/5/14 RP 151-52).

The Keg hats had been given out as a present to Keg employees. (11/4/14 RP 20). Mr. Fuller worked at the Keg the year the hats were given as gifts, but testified that he, like many other employees, had left his hat at the party. (11/5/14 RP 128-29; 11/24/14 RP 28-29). Two of his acquaintances testified Fuller told him he lost his hat jumping out of a window, but could not

remember when that conversation happened. (11/12/14 RP 68;118).

Various witnesses testified they had seen Mr. Fuller wear a Keg beanie hat, and an equal number testified they had no recollection of ever seeing him wear such a hat. (11/5/14 RP 268; 280; 287; 11/12/14 RP 40; 165;11/19/14 RP 21). Pre-crime video surveillance of Mr. Fuller collected and reviewed by officers had no images of him wearing a Keg hat. (11/6/14 RP 377-379).

The forensic analyst testified mitochondrial DNA analysis of hair from the beanie and hair later removed from Mr. Fuller's apartment and a bag of hair⁶, removed from a garbage dump that included Fuller's trash, by 2009 standards shared the same mitochondrial profile as 2 out of 1,674 people in the database.⁷ (11/12/14 RP 21). In 2014, the sequences were interpreted under a different standard and the new interpretation was 0 out of 1674. (11/12/14 RP 20-21). She concluded all three samples could not be excluded as originating from the same maternal lineage(11/12/14 RP 28). The analysis does not point to a unique

_

 $^{^6}$ Fuller testified that on March 5th or 6th 2009, he cut his hair because he needed to find a job. (11/24/14 RP 78).

⁷ Mitochondrial DNA analysis uses a database of 4,839 unrelated individuals which is searched to see how many times a particular profile is seen within that database.

individual, but rather relationships by maternal lineage. (11/12/14 RP 27-29; 11/5/14 RP 163-66).

The outside of the cap had blood on it as well as quite a bit of debris. (11/6/14 RP 331; 11/10/14 RP 18). The DNA on the outside of the cap indicated a mixture from more than one person. The majority profile was that of Mr. Ahmed. The minor profile excluded Mr. Fuller and Mr. Ahmed. (11/1014 RP 66). A scraping from the inside of the hat yielded a DNA profile that was a statistical match for Mr. Fuller. (11/10/14 RP 70).

Fingernail Clippings

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