COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION II STATE OF WASHINGTON

STATE OF WASHINGTON, RESPONDENT

V.

JAYCEE FULLER, APPELLANT

Appeal from the Superior Court of Pierce County The Honorable Bryan Chushcoff The Honorable Ronald Culpepper

No. 09-1-01865-2

BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

MARK LINDQUIST Prosecuting Attorney

By JASON RUYF Deputy Prosecuting Attorney WSB # 38725

930 Tacoma Avenue South Room 946 Tacoma, WA 98402 PH: (253) 798-7400

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

⁵⁹ E.g., RPC 3.3, 4.1, 4.2, 8.4, 8.5.

protecting work product since it could have been more confidentially exchanged through his standby counsel. The decision not to dismiss the murder charges for imagined misconduct should be affirmed.⁶⁰

2. DEFENDANT FAILED TO PROVE IT WAS AN ABUSE OF DISCRETION FOR THE TRIAL COURT TO ADMIT MATERIAL EVIDENCE OF BOOT TRACKS HEADING TOWARD HIS APARTMENT ALONG A NATURAL ESCAPE ROUTE FROM THE PARKING LOT WHERE HE MURDERED THE VICTIM.

The admission of evidence should be affirmed absent a manifestly unreasonable abuse of discretion. Evidentiary rulings are unreasonable when no rational judge would have entered them. *State v. Thomas*, 150 Wn.2d 821, 856, 83 P.3d 970 (2004); *State v. Hughes*, 118 Wn. App. 713, 724, 77 P.3d 681 (2003). To be manifestly unreasonable, they must be obviously based on untenable grounds or reasons. *Id.*; *State v. Taylor*, 83 Wn.2d 594, 598, 521 P.2d 699 (1974).

Defendant created a convoluted record on this issue, yet his failure to secure a final ruling on his motion to exclude the boot track evidence before it was admitted is clear. The evidence consisted of testimony, video

⁶⁰ Defendant incorrectly urges the Court to remand for a reference hearing so he can supplement the record he neglected to perfect despite the trial court's express invitation for him to do so, but "[w]here, as here, the claim is brought on direct appeal, the reviewing court will not consider matters outside the trial record." *State v. McFarland*, 127 Wn.2d 322, 335, 899 P.2d 1251 (1995), as amended (Sept. 13, 1995).

and photographs of tracks on a bark-covered hillside along the natural escape route from the crime scene to his nearby apartment.⁶¹ He explained the motion as *exclusively* predicated on the tracks appearing roughly ½-inch shorter than his 13 ½-shoe size. RP (10/28) 138. The court reserved ruling to evaluate the testimony. *Id.* 139.

Defendant failed to renew the motion when crime-scene video depicting the tracks was admitted. RP (11/3) 75; Ex.33. He objected on the ground it was "a waste of time," but did not challenge the relevancy of the video's content and he does not assign error to time taken for publication. RP (11/3) 72; Ex.33. He subsequently objected to the relevance of two photographs of the tracks, but did not challenge two others or related testimony, which he developed through cross-examination. It was only after the evidence had been explained by two witnesses that he objected to similar testimony, which he characterized as speculative. RP (11/4) 54-58. After a third witness testified about the tracks, defendant sought reconsideration of his motion, citing an illusory inconsistency in the testimony, RP (11/6) 386-89. The motion was denied. *Id*.

-

⁶¹ RP (10/28) 137-38; (11/4) 15-16, 28, 52-54, 58-59.

⁶² RP (11/3) 81-83, 112-14; (11/4) 14-19, 24-26, 48-52, 54-58; (11/6) 356-58; Ex. 75, 78/248-49.

a. <u>Defendant failed to preserve this issue by</u> failing to timely renew his motion.

Defendant proceeded to trial *pro se*, yet remains bound by the court rules. *State v. Sullivan*, 143 Wn.2d 162, 189, 19 P.3d 1012, 1026 (2001)(Talmadge, J. concurring)(citing *State v. Smith*, 104 Wn.2d 497, 508, 707 P.2d 1306 (1985); *State v. Bebb*, 44 Wn. App. 803, 806, 813, 723 P.2d 512, *aff'd*, 108 Wn.2d 515, 740 P.2d 829 (1987). One such rule precludes review of a motion to exclude evidence that was not timely renewed after the ruling was reserved pending further developments. *Riker*, 123 Wn.2d at 369; *Koloske*, 100 Wn.2d at 896; ER 103; RAP 2.5.

Defendant failed to preserve his motion to exclude the boot tracks by neglecting to timely reassert it when the evidence was admitted through the testimony of three witnesses, two photographs and crime-scene video. Evidence rule 103 required a "timely" challenge stating the "specific ground," if it was not clear from context. The rule combines with RAP 2.5 to preclude review of errors trial courts were not given a chance to correct. *Smith v. Shannon*, 100 Wn.2d 26, 37, 666 P.2d 351 (1983).

The boot tracks were first admitted through the crime-scene video. Defendant interposed a "waste of time" objection to "how long it would take," without challenging its content. RP (11/3) 72. That limited objection did not renew his pretrial motion, for it invoked "waste of time" under ER

403, which assumes relevance. Defendant refrained from objecting as three witnesses explained the tracks. Renewal of the motion came later. RP (11/6) 386-89. By that time he invited the claimed error by developing the evidence through cross-examination that rendered the portion adduced by the State harmless, if error. *See State v. Mahmood*, 45 Wn. App. 200, 204, 724 P.2d 1021, 1024 (1986); *State v. Flores*, 164 Wn.2d 1, 19, 186 P.3d 1038, 1047 (2008). The untimeliness of his objection precludes review. *Riker*, 123 Wn.2d at 369; *Bebb*, 44 Wn. App. at 806; ER 103.

b. <u>Defendant's current challenge is based on a new and inapplicable theory under ER 702.</u>

The denial of a motion to exclude evidence typically cannot be appealed under a different theory than the one asserted below. *See State v. Guloy*, 104 Wn.2d 412, 421, 705 P.2d 1182 (1985); ER 103(a)(1). This is because trial courts do not err by failing to consider unasserted claims. ER 103(a); RAP 2.5(a)(3); *State v. Roberts*, 158 Wn. App. 174, 181-82, 240 P.3d 1198 (2010), *review granted*, 172 Wn.2d 1017, 262 P.3d 64 (2011).

Defendant maintains the boot track evidence should be excluded under ER 702 and *Frye v. United States*, 293 F. 1013, 1014 (D.C.Cir. 1923). App.Br. 25 (citing *State v. Brewczynski*, 173 Wn. App. 541, 555, 294 P.3d 825 (2013)). Yet he never challenged it pursuant to those rules below, so it was properly admitted without regard to their applicability.

The argument is also meritless. Rule 702 permits experts to testify about scientific matters. *Frye* requires general acceptance of the associated principles. Defendant invokes these standards by mischaracterizing information about the tracks as "footwear impression" evidence, which refers to expert comparisons of unique markings shoes acquire over time. *United States v. Mahone*, 328 F.Supp.2d 77, 90-91 (D.Maine.2004). Whereas the challenged boot track evidence consists of lay inferences from perceived shape, freshness and relative position. ER 701; *State v. Ortiz*, 119 Wn.2d 294, 308, 831 P.2d 1060, 1068 (1992) *disapproved on other grounds by State v. Condon*, 182 Wn.2d 307, 343 P.3d 357 (2015). Several of those attributes were not apparent in the photographic record, which further warranted the testimony.⁶³

State moves to admit 248 and 249.

[Defendant] No objection.

⁶³ RP (11/4) 16-17:

Q: "Detective, I'm handing you Plaintiff's Exhibits 248 and 249; do you recognize those? ... Do those fairly and accurately depict the shoe impressions that you observed on March 8, 2009?

A: They do, with the exception that photographs don't give quite as much detail as you can see in person. And so we could tell a little bit more observing the footprints in person than you can from these photographs. ...

c. <u>It was reasonable to admit evidence of fresh</u> boot tracks found at the crime scene.

"Whether evidence actually plays a part in a crime is not the definition of relevan[ce]...." *State v. Burkins*, 94 Wn. App. 677, 693, 973 P.2d 15, 25 (1999)(quoting *State v. Quigg*, 72 Wn. App. 828, 838, 866 P.2d 655 (1994)). To be "relevant," evidence must have some tendency to make the existence of a material fact more or less probable. ER 401. Even minimal logical relevancy will do. *State v. Bebb*, 44 Wn. App. at 814.

Defendant argued the tracks were irrelevant because they appeared ½ inch shorter than his shoe size. Yet he apparently understood the tracks were made in unstable bark, which accounted for them appearing slightly smaller than the boots that made them. His claim nonetheless confused weight with admissibility. See State v. Cole, 67 Wn.2d 522, 534, 408 P.2d 387, 394 (1965). Juries are entitled to a description of the crime scene. See Cole, 67 Wn.2d at 534; Burkins, 94 Wn. App. at 693; State v. Lantzer, 55 Wyo. 230, 99 P.2d 73, 78 (1940). Descriptions may include inferences drawn from perception. Id.; Ortiz, 119 Wn.2d at 308; ER 701. It is for the jury to decide if connections to the charged offense exist. Id.; Flythe v. D.C., 4 F. Supp. 3d 222, 233 (D.D.C. 2014).

Defendant is not the first murderer to challenge circumstantial evidence recovered from a crime scene. In *Burkins*, the Court of Appeals

affirmed the admission of rope discovered at a murder scene as evidence of premeditation despite the State's inability to prove it was used. *Burkins*, 94 Wn. App. at 693. A similar result was reached in at least two other cases. *Cole*, 67 Wn.2d at 534 (objection to lunch box containing cartridges found in area occupied by murderer went to weight); *Flythe*, 4 F.Supp.3d at 233 (debatable connection to the incident did not justify excluding knife found at the scene).

It was likewise for defendant's jury to determine if boot tracks observed at the scene were connected to the murder. They certainly had some tendency to identify him as the killer. They were fresh, consistent with his boots and found twenty feet from where the victim's blood was recovered with his DNA along a natural escape route to his apartment. Absent those links, they were still a relevant characteristic of the scene that explained a pertinent sequence of events. If nothing else, they showed somebody seemingly fled from the area around the time of the murder. They consequently contributed to a rational understanding of the incident.

For the first time on appeal, defendant claims the evidence was too prejudicial, if probative. This unpreserved invocation of ER 403 should not be considered. It is also meritless. "In almost any instance, a defendant can complain ... potentially incriminating evidence is prejudicial in that it may contribute to proving ... [he] committed the crime." *State v.*

Stackhouse, 90 Wn. App. 344, 356-57, 957 P.2d 218 (1998). "As such, the focus must be on whether it was unfairly prejudicial." *Id.* Prejudice is "unfair" when it arouses an emotional response. *Id*

The jury either embraced the tracks as a fact connecting defendant to the murder or convicted him despite them. There was nothing unfair about alerting the jury to their existence, describing their appearance or orientating the jury to their placement between the murder and defendant's nearby apartment. It was reasonable to admit the evidence, so the ruling should be affirmed. The evidence was harmless, if error, for it was not outcome determinative given the DNA that linked him to the scene. *State v. Doerflinger*, 170 Wn. App. 650, 665, 285 P.3d 217, 224 (2012).

3. THIS COURT SHOULD REJECT DEFENDANT'S UNPRESERVED CLAIM ERROR ADHERED TO THE NOTICE OF HIS TRIAL ON SOCIAL MEDIA THAT THE JURY WAS REPEATEDLY INSTRUCTED TO AVOID AND PRESUMABLY NEVER VIEWED.

Prosecutors are accountable to the public they serve. Spokane Cty. v. State, 136 Wn.2d 644, 655-56, 966 P.2d 305 (1998). Accountability is achieved by alerting the public to prosecutions undertaken in its name. See State v. Wise, 176 Wn.2d 1, 17, 288 P.3d 1113, 1121 (2012). Once informed, community members can better exercise their right to observe the proceedings, and through observation assess whether justice was done.

A trial court's ruling on the impact of trial publicity will not be reversed unless clearly erroneous. *See State v. Noltie*, 116 Wn.2d 831, 839-40, 809 P.2d 190 (1990); *Michielli*, 132 Wn.2d at 240; *State v. Wixon*, 30 Wn. App. 63, 71-76, 631 P.2d 1033 (1981) (citing *State v. Crudup*, 11 Wn. App. 583, 587, 524 P.2d 809 (1979)).

Defendant moved to disqualify the Prosecutor because of his popularity, conduct in the first trial and comments attributed to him by the press. RP (2/13/14) 49-53, 55-56. The trial court denied the motion, in part because there was no reason to believe the Prosecutor committed the misconduct alleged. *Id.* at 57-61. The issue came up again when defendant sought an unconstitutional "gag order" to prevent anyone from discussing the case. RP (3/27/14) 152-53; (5/1/14) 184-89.

Defendant's retrial had not been actively covered by the press. RP (10/27/14) 43. Preliminary instructions issued to prospective jurors provided: the evidence was limited to testimony and admitted exhibits; the State charged defendant with first degree murder, but he is presumed innocent; the case involved the death of a cab driver in Tacoma; the case must not be decided on something heard outside the courtroom; and the jury was "not to look up anything ... [on] anybody's web page ..." or discuss the case on social media. *Id.* at 75-77, 79-80, 106-08. Similar

instructions were given to the empaneled jury before and after opening statement.⁶⁴

Defendant informed the court of a November 2, 2014, "Tweet" on the sixth day of trial. RP (11/12/14) 5-12, 43-44, 55-57. It stated:

"Prosecutor Mark Lindquist to deliver opening statement tomorrow on Jaycee Fuller murder trial. Fuller Killed taxi driver on Tacoma's Sixth Avenue."

Id. 6-7. The message was placed on the Prosecutor's Twitter account by a staff member tasked with alerting the public to the office's community service. It was sent following the jury's instruction to avoid social media about the case. Id. at 6, 10. There was reason to believe a person would have to make a conscious effort to find the message. Id. at 9-10. When the Prosecutor inquired into the motion being made, defendant responded:

It's not a motion. It's informing the Court a more proper Tweet would have been "Fuller allegedly killed cab driver from fare off Sixth Avenue." That's the difference.

Id. at 8 (emphasis added). The court correctly observed:

[I]f the State didn't have a good-faith belief ... you did this ... and there wasn't probable cause ... already found, that you did it, we wouldn't even be here, so saying "allegedly" might be better, but I don't see that it's a great problem....

Id. at 8. Defendant disagreed, conceded he had no reason to think jurors knew about the "Tweet" and reiterated his limited goal of bringing the

⁶⁴ RP (10/28/72) 74-76 (10/30/14) 14-15, 17, 20-22; (11/3/14) 176; (11/4/14) 119.

matter to the court's attention. *Id.* at 9. He did not want the matter brought to the jury's attention. *Id.* at 9-10. That position never changed. *Id.* at 43-44, 55-57; RP (11/19/14) 13-15. Concluding instructions reiterated the impropriety of deciding the case from extrinsic evidence. CP 503-07.

a. <u>Defendant improperly urges reversal for an</u> issue he did not want addressed below.

No procedural principle is more familiar than a right of any sort may be forfeited in criminal cases by a failure to timely assert it. *State v. Lazcano*, 188 Wn. App. 338, 355-57, 354 P.3d 233 (2015), as amended (Aug. 20, 2015); *United States v. Olano*, 507 U.S. 725, 731, 113 S.Ct. 1770 (1993); *Yakus v. United States*, 321 U.S. 414, 444, 64 S.Ct. 660 (1944)). Defendants are often precluded from advancing new arguments on appeal because they did not afford the trial court an opportunity to correctly rule on the law they want applied. *Id.* at 355; *McFarland*, 127 Wn.2d at 333; *State v. O'Hara*, 167 Wn.2d 91, 97–98, 217 P.3d 756 (2009); *Smith v. Shannon*, 100 Wn.2d 26, 37, 666 P.2d 351 (1983); *State v. Strine*, 176 Wn.2d 742, 749, 293 P.3d 1177 (2013)).

Defendants hoping to raise an unpreserved issue on appeal must prove the relief requested is required to correct a manifest error affecting a constitutional right. *Lazcano*, 188 Wn. App. at 355-57; RAP 2.5. This requires the defendant to show how the alleged error actually affected his

rights. The facts necessary to evaluate the error must be in the record on appeal. *Id.* "[P]ermitting every ... constitutional error to be raised for the first time on appeal undermines the trial process, generates unnecessary appeals ... and is wasteful of ... limited resources" *Id.* at 357.

By asking the trial court to refrain from taking any action to address the "Tweet," defendant ensured the record required to evaluate its impact on the jury was never made. *Wixon*, 30 Wn. App. at 68; *Estrada* v. *Scribner*, 512 F.3d 1227, 1238-39 (9th Cir. 2008). Without that record, there is no way for him to prove the "Tweet" was manifest constitutional error. There is consequently no basis for granting review of this claim.

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